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FRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Deespite its length, Plaintiffs' opposition memorandum does nol raise any genuine issue of

material fact After sponsoring and abandoning a variety of allegations, Plaintiffs now try 1o

sustain primarily two (1) that Defendanis had a secret plan to add at least 7,000 new stores and

(2) that pre-sale communications by Perdue “corrupted” the process. There is no genuine issue

of matenal fact as 1o either

Secret Plan to Double the Number of Stores — There 15 not and never was such a
plan, Dollar General did have a geographic and demographic analysis that staed 1
was Lheorelically possible 10 open 7,000 or more additional stores and that
opportunity was widely known — by the Board, by analysis, by PlaintfT City ol
Miami Bui there was never a plan 1o open anything remotely approaching that
number of stores  There is not a single documen! or wilness that supports Plaintiffs’
claim. Confusing the opportunity to grow with a plan to grow does nol rasc a
genuine issue of material fact. Even Plaintiffs’ own expen concedes that “of course™
there is a difference between “an opportunity 10 open a store and a plan 10 open a
store.” And, the Court can take notice of the true lact that since the KKR transaction
closed the number of Dollar General stores has increased far below even the plans
that did exist So much for the “secret plan.™

Corrupted Process — Even assuming that Perdue told KKR non-public information
aboui Dollar General®s amenability to a going private transaction and promised KKR
exclusivity, that information became worthless once Dollar General actually staried a
non-cxclusive strategic review process with KKR and Bain and others  In addinon to
being factually irrelevant, whatever Perdue said also became lepally irelevant once
the Board and Strategic Planming Commuttee took control of the process and excluded
Perdue from 1. Here again, even Plaintiflfs’ own governanee expert admils the Board
acted reasonably and appropriately al every stape ol the process, including with
respect to the ultimate decision to approve the Merger at $22/share. So much lor the
“cormmupied” process.

Plaintifts do argue that the “secret plan” and “corrupt process™ should have been publicly

disclosed, but there 15 no duty 1o disclose the non-existent or the immatenal.

The parties, with no important exceptions, agree on the legal standards thal govern this

motion. The record must demonstrate & genwine issue of material fact that a majority of the

directors were disloyal or acted in bad faith  Plaintiffs must do so by citing 1o specilic facts in
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the record that would be admissible at tnal, Plamuffs cannot make this showing without
demonstratng that the Directors intended 1o breach therr Nduciary duttes  Plamntiffs must also
show that KKR Knowingly participated in such intentional breach, These are serious charges
and Plaintifls cannot back them up

In fact, Plainiiffs make an extraordinary number of concessions, explicit and imphei, that
absolutely preclude them from proving essential elements of their case. Accordingly, the
business judgment rule protects the Board's decisions and this case must be dismissed. For
example, Plaintiffs do not dispute that 9 of 11 Directors were unconflicted and had ne motive
other than (o do what was best for shareholders. (In fact, they now offer to dismiss & directors
from the case ) Plaintiffs do not dispute that the three members of the SPC were eminently
qualified. Plaintiffs do not dispute that there was no controlling shareholder at the Company
and do not argue that Perdue or anyone else dominated the Board., PlanulTs do not dispute that
the offer of $22/sharc was a 31% cash premium offer and that sceuritics analysis and sharcholder
advisory firms lauded the price  PlaintifTs do not dispute that Perdue was excluded from the
SPC’s deliberations about the transaction. was nol informed ol those deliberations, and did not
1ell KER abowt those dehberations  Plamtifls do not contest the {act that their own governance
expert admitted under aath that the Board ran a repsonable process and that 115 ultimate decision
1o vole in favor of the transaction was reasonable. They do not anempt 1o address the Herlihy
Aflidavit and have abandoned the irresponsible claim that KKR was “lipped.” They de not
attempt to address the TPG Affidavit, which makes it clear that TPG dropped out of the bidding
process because it could not justify joining KKR s bid a1 $22/share,

The arguments that Plaintitfs do attempt 1o make are predicated on speculation,

mischaracterizations, inadmissible evidence and selective and even manmpulated quotations
2
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Needless to say, unsupporied arguments of this nature cannol raise genuine issucs ol material
fact,

This htigation was commenced in March 2007, 20 months ago. Since then. the parties
have conducted extensive discovery, including 25 fact and experl deposihions, al great expense.
PlaintifTs have now filed an §5-page opposition memorandum over the names of a doven lawyers
that does nol raise one genumne issue of material fact for inal  The time has come 10 dismiss the
baseless allegations in this case

ARGUMENT
1. There Is No Dispute as to the Applicable Standards

PlaintifTs agree that “[sJlummary judgment is appropriaie when the moving party can
show that there 15 no genuine gsue of material [act and that it 15 entiled 1o judgment as a matter
of law ™ Hannan v Alltel Publ'y Co , 2008 Tenn. LEXIS 792, at *7 (Tenn Oct 31, 2008)
{citing Tenn, R. Civ. P. 56.04); Plts.” Opp Br {"Opp.”} at 44 Although the moving pany has
the ultmate burden of persuading the court that “there are no dispuled, matenal facis creaung a
genuine 1ssue for trial ... and that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law,” the moving panty
“may shift the burden of production to the nonmoving party by showing that the nonmaoving
party cannot establish an essential element of the claim at tral *° Monaan, 2008 Tenn, LEXIS
792, at *&, 13 {intermal citations omitled). PlamtilTs then “may not rest upon the mere
llegarions or denials of the adverse party’s pleading, but his or her response, by alfidavits or as
otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there 1% a genuine issue
for trial,” Tenn R. Civ. P. 56.06 (emphasis added).

*[5 lummary judgment is not a disfavored procedural shericut bul rather an important

vehicle for concluding cases that can and should be resolved on legal 1ssues alone ™ Hyrd v
3



LOPY

Hall, 847 S.W.2d 208, 210 (Tenn. 1993) Tennessee courts can and do granl summary judgment
in cases involving breach of fiduciary duty claims. See Head v. Wachovia Bank of Ga, N A | 88
S W 3d 180 (Tenn Ct App. 2002) (affirming summary judgment on breach of Niduciary duty
claims agamnst bank acting as trustee); Union Planters Bank of Middle State v Choare. 2000
Tenn. App LEXIS 593 (Tenn. CL App. Aug. 31, 2000) (alTirming summary judgment on clayms
including breach of fiduciary duty)

Plainnffs also agree that the exculpatory provision in the Dollar General charter shields
the Directors from money damages for breaches ol the duty of care. Opp. at 75-76." Therefore,
in order to prevail, it is undisputed that Plaintiils must show that the Merger resulied from
disloyal or bad faith conduct by the Board, see Jn re Trarskarvoric Therapies, Inc . 954 A 2d
346, 363 (Del. Ch. 2008); Globis Pariners, L P v Plumiree Software, Inc . 2007 WL 4292024,
at *14-15 (Del Ch Nowv 3i), 2007}, or that the Board “intentionally omitted matenal information
or knowingly disseminated false information® to shareholders. CGoodwin v Live Enim 't fnc |
1999 WL 64265, at *7 (Del. Ch. Jan. 25, 1999); see aflso City of Pontioc Gen Employees ™ Rer
Svs v, Thomas Nelson, No. 06-5301-I(11}, ship op. at 13 {(Tenn. Ch. May 4, 2007, In all events,
Plasntiffs must demonstrate intentional misconduct.

A The Business Judgment Rule

It is undisputed that @ of the 11 directors are Outside Direclors who were nol part of

management and are independent under the rules of the Mew York Stock Exchange. Plis.” Resp.

" PlamtifTs are wrong, however, that application of the exculpatory provision “cannot resull in

dismissal of the action as a whole ™ Opp g1 76 Courts Trequently dismiss actions against directors
for alleged breaches of fiduciary duty on the basis of exculpatory provisions  See, ¢ g, fir re Lear
Corg §holder Lng , 2008 WL 4053221 (Del Ch Sept 2. 2008), My Pacliden v Siell, 2008 Del Ch,
LEXIS 123 (Del Ch. Aug. 29, 2008).
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10 Defs * R 56 03 Simi. of Undisputed Facts (*SUF™ Y 5.7 Accordingly, the Board's decisions
arc presemptively entitled to protection under the busimess judgment rule, which presumes that
the Board “acted on an informed basis, in good faith, and with the honest beliel that their
decision was in the corporation’s best interests,” Lewis ex rel Clirzens Sav Bank & Trust Co v
Boyd, 838 S.W.2d 215, 220-21 (Tenn.CLApp. 1992} (Tennesses junsprudence “squarely align|s]
Tennessee with the jurisdictions recognizing and following the *business judgment rule™ such as
Delaware). In Thomas Nelson, Chancellor Lyle, applying Tennessee law, held that in order 1o
overcome the business judgment rule, Plaintiffs must present evidence “that a majority of the
Board was interested or lacked independence™ with respect (o the transaction al issue. Thomas
Nelsan, shp op. at 10.

Having already conceded that 9 directors are disinterested, Plaintiffs iry 1o circumvent the
time-honored protections of the business judgment rule with three arguments: (1) they allege that
Perdue and Beré deliberately tnicked the Outside Direciors by concealing a “secret plan™ to open
7,000-plus new stores, Opp at 22-31; (2) they allege the Board acted in bad faith by panticipating
in a corrupl process, Opp. al 37-41; and (3) they argue the Board intenthionally failed 10 disclose
the secret store growth plan and corrupted process in the Proxy Statement  Opp. at 31-33.

B. The Duty of Loyalty

To rebut the business judgment rule on a duty of loyalty claim, PlaintifTs must show
either that a majority of the board had a disabling interest or lack of independence or that one or

more inferested directors “dominate|d]” the whole board, Transkarvonie, 954 A 2d a1 363 Bt

- Indeed, it is mot even clear that Plaintis sill believe they have viable elaims agamst a majority of the

direciors, having made the unususl offer 1o drop them from the case if they will testily for Planiiffs
Opp. at 5 n.B.
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PlaintifTs here concede that 9 of 11 Dhrectors are disinlerested, SUF Y 5, and have never
altempted 1o argue the Board was dominaied,

In thewr zeal wo Nind some dispute 1o point 1o, Plaintifls argue Chancellor Lyle™s Thomas
Nelsan decision is wrong and that McRedmaond v. Estare of Mariarelli, 46 3. W .3d 730 (Tenn. Ct.
App. 2000), creates a conflict between Delaware and Tennessee law as to whether ratification by
a disinterested majorily precludes claims for breach of the duty of loyalty. As an initial matter,
this claim is hard to reconcile with Plaintffs™ acknowledgment clsewhere in their brief that
Thamas Nelson s “persuasive™ and “instructive ™ Opp. at 57 n 38, Sccondly, MeRedmomd
addressed a different issue. AfcRedmond invelved a closely held company incorporated in
Kentucky with a controlling shareholder who sponsored a transaction that favored hisson fd at
733, Applying Kentucky law, the Court held that approval by disintercsied directors could
render the transaction non-vondable under a Kentucky conflict statute, However, the court found
that stawute did not preclude fiduciary duly claims where the business judgment rule had been
rebunied by virtue of the faci that there was a conirolling sharcholder on both sides ol the
transaction. Jd at 735, 737-38, 741, McRedmond has no applicability 10 a case such as this that
does not involve a controlling shareholder. Tennessee law is - and remains - that a non-
controlling person transaction approved by a disinterested majority of directors will be subject 1o
the protections of the business judgment rule  Thomas Nelson, shpop @ 10

C.  The Duty of Good Faith

To avoid the protections of the business judgment rule on a duty of good faith claim,
Plamtifls must persuade this Court 1o find that these Directors — including some of the most
experienced and respected ligures in Tennessee (many with national reputations) = “consciously

acled in a manner contrary to the interests of [the Company] and its stockholders.” fn re Lear
B
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Corp. 5 holder Ling , 2008 WL 4053221, a1 * 10 (Del. Ch. Sept 2, 2008) Not even proof of
gross negligence or reckless indifference 15 sufficient 1o show bad faith, See frnre Wall Disney
Co Derivarive Litig,, 906 A 2d 27, 64-65 (Del 2006) (“fiduciary action 1aken solely by reason
of gross negligence . . . without more” cannol constitute bad faith); MeMadden v Sidhu, 2008
Del. Ch. LEXIS 123, at *35-36 (Del Ch Aug. 29, 2008) (dismissing bad faith claims where the
board “acted with gross negligence or else reckless indilTerence”™).

D. The Duty of Disclosure

Because the exculpatory provisien in Dollar General's charter shields the Directors from
liability for duty of care claims, any disclosure claim must involve intentional misconduct by
the Directors. Goodwin, 1999 WL 64265, at *7. Plainnfis must show thal any misstalemeni was
intentional, matenal and caused compensable economic inyury. Thomas Nelson, shp op. at 13;
Indrana State Dist Council of Laborers & HOD Carriers Pension Fund v Brukardr, No 05-
1392-11, slip op. at 24 {Tenn. Ch. Aug 27, 2007) (the “nondisclosure itself . .. must cause
injury™'); Transkaryetic, 954 A.2d at 362-63 & n 55 (dismissing disclosure claims in merger case
where “plamtifls merely speculaie” that challenged disclosures caused an injury), see afso
Lowdon v Archer-Daniels Midland Ca , 700 A 2d 135, 146-47 (Del 1997) (*[There 15 na per se
rube that would allow damages lor all director breaches ol the liduciary duly of disclosure ™).
11, The “Secret™ Store Growth Plan Is o Desperate Fiction

Plaintiffs’ case hinges on the claim that management had a secret “long-standing plan to
add 7,000-plus stores™ that it hud from the Board and the shareholders, Opp. a1 2, 24, But there
was no plan 1o open 7,000 or more new stores, Plaintifls deliberately confluse a plan with an
apportunity, freely mixing references 1o store growth “opportunitics,” store growth

“expectations,” store growth “plans™ and store growth “strategics,” before lumping them all
7
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together as store growth “issues™ But these terms are not interchangeable A plan is a “detailed
scheme or method for the accomplishment of an objective,” while an “opporiunity™ 1s a mere
“chance for advancement.” See WEBSTER'S 1l DicTioNaRY (3d Ed. 2005). Plaintffs” alleged
plan is not a plan on its face since Plaintiffs do not allege over what period of time the 7 ({0 new

stores would be opened = | year, 10 years, 20 years? Plaintiffs” cxpert Prol. Black conceded this

very point;

Q Is there a distinetion in your mind between the opporiunny
1o open a siore and a plan to open a store?

A Of cowrse,
Q What's the difference, in your mind?

A An opporiunity is in some sense — no one was saying, for
example, they could open | 0K stores tomorrow. They
had — yvou know, they could roll out new stores al some
pace, and exaclly what thal pace was was uncertaim.

The opportunily o open a new slore might be there today
and not there tomormmow. IU's going 1o change over time, all
nght? A plan 1s a more discrete concepl of here’s what
wi're going o do over a finile future period of time

Bernard 5, Black Dep. Tr. ("Black Tr "y at 261°11-262 4 (emphasis added). Prof Black also
concedes that Perdue and Berd had no “concrete plan™ 1o open a huge number of additional
stores. Black Tr. at 262.5-15. Prol. Black even explained that “logistics” demonstrate why a
retailer’s plan to open new stores is so different from an opportunity 10 open new slores
“Moving to a new area would be a much bigger jump 1 would be a major capital investment.
You'd have to buld a new distnbution center....” Black Tr at 42 19-22, 41 6-13 (a retmler has

te confront 1ssues such as, “[c)an trucks reach this store from an existing distribution center
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within a reasonable period of tme?"). These admissions by their own expert preclude Plaintifls
from proving the key “secret plan” clement of their case.”

Plamntiffs’ strategy is to try to ignore their own expert; Prof. Black is invisible in their
brief. Instead, they point lo lour picces of “evidence™ of a secrel plan. (1) a 2003 siudy by
Claritas that indicated there were 17,484 polential sites across the ULS for discount retail stores;
(2)a 2007 report from Applied Predictive Technologies (“APT™) commissioned by KKR that
ientilied a simular potential opportumity, (3) manipulated excerpts of Berd's lesiimony, which,
unaltered, make perfectly clear there was never a plan to open 7.000-plus new stores; and (4) an
entirely misleading excerpt of a KKR presentation o potential lenders and investors, which
aclually shows that KKR expected 1o open few stores — and which happens to be exacily what
has happened,

(1) The Claritas Study. The 2003 Claritas study is a statistical analysis of the number of
potential sites for new discount retail stores based on peographic and demographic factors ' The
study found that. excluding certam urban areas. in 2003 there was potential demand suilicient 1o

support 17,484 additional discount retail stores nationwide  Aflidavit of Denmis C Botor{f

{(“Bouworfl AfT™) Ex 3 a1 DG 372671, DG 372686 Management concluded that if one were to

*  Plantiffs" allegation that management was sncentivized to withhold thes information by the

expectation of a profitable investment in the post-Merger company s belied by the record  Berd's
unrebutied wesimony is that he did not expect w be with the Company afier the Merger, and that he
was not asked 1o stay on as interim CED until weeks after the Board approved the merger  David
Beré Dep Tr (“Beré Tr ™) at 53:7-54-22, The rest of management was “stunned” when “they learned
that they would have 1o imvest money mto the new deal,” and they believed that the investment level
KKR initially proposed (o management was “too high ™ Beré Tr a1 57 17-58:16; Supplemental
AfMidavit of Steven A. Ritey (“Riley Supp. A7) Ex. 1 (May 11, 2007 Email between Beré and
Lowe) at DG 159759 Beré subsequently negotiated with KKR o reduce management's required
level of mvestment Beré Tr at 57 17-58 16,

The study was performed by a division of Claritas known as Integras, bul Dollar General
management referred 1o the firm as “Clapras 7 BonodT Ex 3 a1 DG 372671

@
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assume that Dollar General could oblain a 40% markel share, there were 6,949 (or approximalely
7,000) potential sites for new Dollar General siores, if Dollar General ever decided that it made
sense 1o open them. Bul the Clantas study was in no stretch of the imagination a plan to open
thal many new slores.

There is no genuine issue as 1o the fact thar Management discussed the Claritas study
with the Board in November 2003 and then again in July 2004, BottorfT Ex. 3 at DG 372671,
Bottorff Ex. 4 at DG 373044, The results of the study were summanzed to the Board in a shide

that showed:

DG Site Opportunities

* Total # of US “dollar” sites (104 17,484*

* Total # of DG Sites (& epprox. 40% share): 6,949
Bottorfl Ex. 3 at DG 3172686 The growth opportunity discussions are documented in the
minutcs of the Board meetings. Bottor(T AT 9 19%: Bottorfl Ex. 3 a1 DG 372671, DG 372686;
Bottorfl Ex. 4 at DG 373044.% Tehle, Dollar General's CFO, also testified that he regularly
discussed growth potential with the Board. David Tehle Dep. Tr. (*Tehle Tr ™) at 113-15-25.
This evidence 15 conclusive even il one direcior (Knuckles) did nol recall these specific
presenigtions al her deposition five years later, Opp al 71, and a second director {(Thomburgh)

was alse unaware of the Claritas study because he did not join the Board umil 2006 /4 Both

Y PlamtdTs go to grent lengths 10 distort the record.  Plaintiffs assen that the Outside Directors

“admitied that they never saw the various matenials showimg Dollar Genersl’s tremendous prowth
prospecis 7 Opp a1 29, 0,17 But PlaihifTs™ only cite 15 do responses o Reguests for Admission thal
relate exclosively 10 documenis erealed by or on behalf of KKR  See AfTidovi of Douglas §
Johnston, tr, in Support of Plaintifls™ Omnibus Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants™ Motion
For Judgment on the Pleadings, Ex. WW, That admission 15 irrelevant and inedmissible with respect
to the Cutside Dhireerors’ knowledge.

o
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Knuckles and Thomburgh testilied that they were aware of discussions ol store growth
opportunitics al Board mectings. Barbara Knuckles Dep Tr {(“Knuckles Tr ") ar 31 21-33-25
(“TI1]F we did owr job right, if the company had the right distribution centers, the right people, the
right equipmeni, i you will, and the rnight suppliers, we could grow the business in other stores --
other states where we were nol and other counties where we were not.”™); Richard Thomburgh
Dep. Tr. (“Thomburgh Tr.™) a1 235-237 (recalling discussions that the Company could open 500-
T00 stores per year after Project Alpha),

As the Board was advised, the Claritas study was a “market capacity 1ool™ that only
identificd “potential target areas ™ BottorfT Ex 3 at DG 372671 This was the same description
of the Clarinas study given 1o Bain and KKR in 2007 A summary of the Clantas study was
included in the due diligence data room with a cover note siating that it was a study ol “unfilled
demand for general merchandise retail sales” and a “500,000 FT snapshot in time™ that was
“In]ot intended 1o be a tactical 1ool,” Riley Supp. AIT. Ex, 2 (Dollar General summary of
Claritas stwdy) at DGOD1492- DGO0T493; Riley Supp. All. Ex. 3 (summary of Clantas study
produced by Bain) at BAGMI 73 56.% There is simply no evidence that the Claritas study was a
plan o open slores.

{2)  The APT Study. As part of i1s due diligence, KKR - not Dollar General -
commissioned a study of the discount retail markel by a group called APT. Like the Clanitas
study, the APT report was merely an opportunity study, See, e g, Allidavit of Douglas 5.

Johnston, Jr, in Suppont of Flaintilfs” Memarandum in Opposition to Defendants™ Motion FFor

®  Lazard mamtaimed the data room and had full access to the Clarias resulis that were placed i the

data room  Michael Wilkerson of Lazard confirmed that Lazard was aware of Dollar General's
prowth prospects and the secior’s growih potential in general  Oolober 10, 2008 Michael Wilkerson
Dep Tr. ("October 10, 2008 Wilkerson Tr ") 34 20-35 B, 99 13-102 4
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Summary Judgment (“Johnston 5.0 AIT™), Ex. 14 at KKRE 0194863 (explaiming the APT siudy
predicted “growth potential™ and “expansion opportunities” not a plan for store growth) 1t did
not project any polential rate of store growth or sel forth any plan for expansion. Furthermore,
the study belonged 10 KKR and was not provided 1o the Dollar General Board at any time prior
to the execution of the Merger Agreement. Thus, the Board could not have considered it in
deciding whether 1o accept KKR's ofler, and 11 15 imelevant to any analysis of whether the
Directors acied in bad faith, See Wayne Counry Employees ™ Ret Syz v Corri, 954 A 2d 319,
332-33 (Del Ch 2008) (projections prepared by a bidder and not relied upon by the board are
immatenal as a matier of law), Guiseppore v Hilton Hotels Corp , BC-373765, slipop at 6
(Cal Super Ct Jan 28, 2008) (documents prepared by a bidder thal were nol reviewed by the
board were irrelevant in action asserting breach of fiduciary duties againsi the board); Zirnv VLI
Corp , 1995 WL 362616, a1 *& (Del. Ch. June 12, 1995) {no duty to disclose information
obtained by board relaling o the bidder’s motivations and noting ‘[ wlhere a third party olferor
15 involved, the stockholder should be able o conclude for himself that the offeror 1s trying 10
acquire the steck at a favorable pnce™) (quoting & pnor opinion 1n the case).

As Beré testified, the APT study 15 “just an opportunity picce. What it doesn't deal with,
of course, is, you know, whether you should build them. All it just says is that, vou know, sies

exist, if you choose to do that.™ Beré Tr. at 150:19-23 {cmphasis added)

Q- Sites exist, meaning that assuming you can keep your costs and everything in
check, there's room to grow upwards towards that number if you choose to do
that?

A, Right

[ ] L L)

Al Right You're missing - there may be 8,000 sites out there, but it may
be the worst business decision in the world to go build 8,000 stores,
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You may be a lot better off taking your investment and putting it
somewhere else, and indeed, that's what we decided (o do, 15 10 slow and
pul our invesiment in other places, versus the new stores.

So the fact that there's a site there doesn®t necessarily — the first
step of many steps is to suggest whether you should go build it.

Beré Tr at 150-24-151:17 (emphasis added). Tehle, agreed:

I think what they were trying 1o do here [in the APT study] is show a potential -
lotal potential markel lor new stores, not a business plan, buil what's the poteniial
that’s oul there [or - for new sites. That doesn't mean we were going to open
up that number of storcs.

Tehle Tr at 133.17-134 3 (emphasiz added); see alve Thornburgh Tr. at 243:16-21 (0. Is this a
plan 1o open up stores? A No. Q. What is this, based on your review” A 1115 an epportunity
that is there in the future showing the potential ability to grow the footprint of the company.™)
{emphasis added). There is no evidence o the contrary.

{3)  Beré's Testimony About Project Alpha. The only plan {or store growth was set
oul in Project Alpha, which the Company publicly announced in November 2006, after months
of discussion and analysis. SUF ¥ 34, Project Alpha included a serics of initiatives o improve
the Company’s performance, including a plan 1o slew new store growth and focus on improving
inventory and real estale operations. SUF§ I5 The press release announcing Project Alpha
said’

As part of its new store strategy, the Company currently expects 1o
open a total of approximately 60 new stores in fiscal 2006 Going
lorward, the Company plans to open approximately 300 and 400
new stores 1 fiscal 2007 and 2008, respectively, and 10 relocate or
remodel approximately 300 siores in each of these vears The
Company plans to return 10 a lngher rate of slore openings
thereafter, beginning in fiscal 200, when it plans to open
approximately 700 new stores and relocate or remodel 450 stores.
The Company will continue 10 apply rigorous crileria 1o new and
existing stores and will look for other enhancements 1o oplimeze 115
real estate strategy for profitable growth,

13
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Bottorff Ex. 2 at Ex. 99.1, p. 2. Consistenl projections were disclosed in the Proxy Stalemenl:
310 new stores in 2008 and 613 new stores in .:'-l[II}IE', nel uf_s_:lnrl:: clpsipgs_. Bottorff Ex. 23 at 27.
There were no other plans. |

PlainuifTs try to circumvent these disclosures by mirmlrpu]?tmg Beré's deposition
lestimony, Plaintiffs start by 'ﬁ-élr::.-ting out of l:ui'lu:xl-a snipp::l that Dollar General “had & plan —
a new store growth plan  The Enmpany 5 had it for }'ean‘ ' Opp. at 14 PlaintilTs then juxtapose
this selected snippet aboul Project ﬁgipha_t with Beré’s testimony — 4 pages later — thal the
Company had room (o gi*_u-.v;.r i:p i;;: over 16,000 stores, altempling 16 imply there was a plan to
open up over 16,000 stores But Beré's testimn:r'.].r qb!::uljl a plan (Beré Tr. at 143) is unrclated to
his answer about the Company’s room 10 grow [Eeri: Tr. at 147), Absent this unfair editing,
Heré's testimony is clear that the only "pl.imﬂ was Project Alphs, and that it was a three-year plan
to grow 300 stores in year 1, 200 in year 2 and 400-500 in year 3 Beré Tr. at 143:9-145:19,

172:4-181:14;
Q. Okay. So the hulmtss plan as | uuderstand it —].rnu had a business
plan that went up three years, curru‘t"‘ Is that a yes?

A Yes. I"'m sorry.

Q. And Project - lhl.'.' Pruju:l Alpha you anticipated would take two lo three
years to do the 400 closures |‘I]l.l|b replacement with high IRR stores,
correct?

A.  Well, the - again, we had a closure plan, We had a new-store- -growth
plan. The nnﬂ-s!nre-gmwll plan for the two YOUrs wias a two-year
program. The i'rsl. year was around: 300 to 350, and the second year,
which we are in now, is 200. And then this question was going to become,
when do vou think = should you continue doing that, or when do you
think you should start, you know, growing those again,

Q. And a old public Dollar General never made a determination as to how
many stores o grow post-Alpha, correct?

A, Certainly, in our three-year plan, it would suggest thal you would have to
open up stores in year three.

14
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How many stores?
It was probably the 4- 10 500 range
What about that. What abowt -

Afier that, we hadn’t go1 — | think the strategic thinking at the ume -
we hadn’l done the analyiical. As | said, we didn’t look much bevond
three years out, is that we really fel that we had 1o be more balanced
between a bunch of factors  One s new store growth. One is remodels,
And twao 15 — three is relocations, plus investmeni in the current slore.

> 0 > O

Beré Tr. at 145:3-146:1] (emphasis added) So while Plaintiffs would suggest that Beré testified
about a “secret” plan to have 16,000 siores, he actually said that Dellar General only had a three
yvear plan that would add a total of approximately 950- 1000 new stores, nol including store
closings, and that was fully disclosed to investors as Project Alpha.

Knuckles similarly testified that the Company had no long-term plans for store growth.

Q. All nght So you believed that as ol two — that even afier 2011,
there was opportunity for profitable store growth, correct?

A Thats pretty far out. We didn’t — we didn’t have any numbers that
locked that Far out that | can recall.

Johnston 5.) AfT Ex. 29, Knuckles Tr. at 31.7-12; see also Botior(T AT, % 20 (| T|he growth
model adopled by the Board as pan of Project Alpha anticipated that the near-term closures and
slowed growth would lead 1o an eventual ability to “exploil the potential’ 10 grow by as much as

ten percent per year in the ‘[lJong-term ™) Therc is no contrary evidence

{4)  The KKR Presentations. After the Merger Agreement was signed, KER had 1o
raise the money to pay shareholders the 31% premium for their shares  Accordingly, KKR made
presentations 1o potential lenders and investors in Apnl-Tune 2007, Opp at 23-25  These
presentations were nol shared with the Board and did not even exist at the time the Board voted

10 accept KKR's offer. They could not have played any role in the Board's decision and are

thercfore irrclevant as a maiter of law., See Corn, 954 A2d m 332-33, Hilton Hosels, shp op. at
13
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f. Equally imporant, the presentations themselves provide absolutely no support for Plainuffs’
claym that there was a secret plan for massive store growth. They plainly show that KKR
planned to add new stores at a rate even slower than Project Alpha.

Plaintiffs cherry pick one page from the presentations based on the APT repon, which
reflects a “new store potential” of over 7,000 new stores. Opp. a1 23, But it 15 plain on the face
of even this one page, by s reference to new store “potential,™ that i1 is not a plan 10 open
thousands of new stores  And even more disingenuously, Plaintifls ignore the page that 1s

aclually tiled “Projected Store Growth:"

Projected Store Growth
/’ EOLLAR GEHERAL—

Biom Girowth
Storms Oponod 3 sl o500 500 550
Gtoren Clomed- &R {[= 1] 100 100 30

Johnston 51 Aff Ex 86 at DG 158643

This shde projects net new store openings of 50 in 2008, 350 in 2009, 404 in 2010 and
450in 2011, fd | see also Johnston 5.7 AIT Ex. 14 al KKRE 019491 3; Johnston 8.J. Al Ex. 15
al WACHOS5305; Johnsion 5.J. AT Ex, 86 at G 158651, This is less than projecied in the
Proxy Statement:
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Year Net New Stores Projected | Net New Stores Projected
in Proxy Statement in KKR Presentation

2008 310 50

2009 615 350

2010 M/A 400

2011 MN/A 450 ]

BottorfT Ex. 23 a1 27.

The KKR presentations alse assume a new store growth rate of roughly 3% in 2010 and
2011, half the 1 0% raie that Dollar General announced might be possible in connection with
Project Alpha Bonor(TEx. 2at Ex. 991, p3 Moreover, in 2011 KKR planned 10 decrease its
capital expenditures “by lowering new store growth.” See, ¢ g, Johnston AIT. Ex. 14 al KKRE
0194913, Thus, KKR’s already lower rate of growth was expected to slow even furither. The
KKR presentations are most assuredly not a plan to add 7,000 or more stores

For further confirmation that there was no secrel plan to open 7,040 stores, the Courl
nced look no further than the current store count. At the time of the Proxy Statement, Dollar
General operated 8,182 stores. BottorfT Ex, 23 at 11, As ol August 1, 2008 Dollar General
operated 8,308 stores SUF Y2 In the first half of 2008, Dollar General opened 125 new stores
and has announced plans 10 open an additional 75 in the second hall of 2008, Riley Ex 1 a1 27
Even 1 Dollar General opens these 75 additional s1ores and no addiional stores are closed 1n
2008, Dollar General will have prown only by 2001 net new stores in two years, or 100 siores per

year That 15 a 2 4% increase J

Plamnuiffs comcede that their zecrel store growih plan allegation has nothing 1o do with any success
Dollar General has had in the post-closing penod and everything 1o do with the current economic
17
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Finally, even assuming there was a duty 1o disclose the potential opportunity Lo cpen
new stores, the parties agree thal the information about potenteal growth was in the market.
Dollar General management repeatedly discussed and answered questions about the Company’s
room o grow, and securities analysts such as Goldman Sachs, Mernll Lynch, and Lehman
Brothers publicly stated their views about growth potential or “saturation.” See Defs.” 8.1, Br. al
3943, Plainuffs’ expents, Prof. Black and Mary O"Connor, agree that this information was in
the public domain  See Black Tr at 263 15-264.8. 271.4-272.13; O"Connor Tr. a1 77.21-78.11,
93.8-16. Even the invesiment advisor [or the City of Miami knew that Dollar General could
open =14, 15, 16,000 stores™ when he voled PlaintdT City of Miami's shares in lavor of the
Merper, James Morris Dep. Tr. ("Norns Tr.”) a1 167:4-14. While some analvsts publicly
guestoned whether Dollar General could open so many stores, Opp. at 32-33, these gquestions

only confirm that the information was available to invesiors (o draw their own conelusions 1

downtum that has dniven consumers 1o discount retaslers. See Opp. at 1 n 2,43 n25 While
Plaintilfs" brief supgests that posi-closing financial performance 15 somehow relevant 1o whether

12 2share was far, PlainufTs® own expens tesnfied that post-closing events are entirely irrelevant to
the issue of whether KKR's offer represented fair value  Mary A. O'Coanor Dep Tr ("0 Connor
Tr.,") at 162.7-17, Black Tr. at 287:7-288.9.

Plamnffs maccurately assert that Defendants” experis did not opine that the marker for Dollar General
stock was efficient  In fact, Prof, Keancth Lehn, former Chiel Economist at the SEC. analyred Dollar
General's stock and determined that it traded efficiently  Scprember 25, 2008 Kenncth Lehn Dep Tr
(“Sepiember 25, 2008 Lehn Te") Ex Tat 11, n 24, App B. Plaintl{s" valuation expent, Roben
Reilly, and Prol Black agree, Johnsion SJ AT, Ex. 32, Roben F. Reilly Dep. Tr (“Reilly Tr ™) an
140:19-141-3; Black Tr a1 272 14-17 (agrecing that “the morkel pnce reflects the mlormation m
analysi reports™ and other public information) Thus, Dollar General s stock price reflected all
mformation in the market about the Company”s store growth potential, including the November 29,
2006 dischosure that o could expand square foolage by 1050 per year afier 2009 BREALEY, MYERS &
ALLEM, PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE FINANCE, 350 (Bih ed 2006) ("In an efMicient market vou can
trust preces, for they impound all available information about the value of cach security ™)
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I1I. Plaintiffs Cannot Show the Board Acted in Bad Faith in Structuring the Process or
Approving the Merger

Plaintiffs’ B5-page opposition brief ignores the devastating testimony of therr own

corporate povernance expert Prof Black:

L

Prof Black agrees that Perdue and Wilds acted appropriately in informing the balance
of the Board aboul their October 5, 2006 meeting with KER  Black Tr at 101:16-
1022

Prol Black said he could not draw the conclusion that the Perdue-Calber
communcations corrupted the process. fd at 241.21-245:16

Prof. Black agrees that ot was “customary” and “good pracuce” Jor “the board 1o form
a special commitiee of outside dircetors Lo take control of the process™; and that both
“the creation of the [SPC|™ and “the membership of the [SPC|™ were “appropriate ”
fd a1 102:21-104.4, 110.13-18.

Prof. Black agrees that as of October 8. 2006, management was nol “unilaterally
deciding how to respond™ 1o KKR. fd at 111 11-15

Prof. Black agrees that it was appropriate for the SPC to retain its own legal advisors,
fd at 126:11-19

Prof Black agrees thal it was consistent with “good corporate governance™ for the
SPC 1o retain an investment bank, like Lazard, that was independent {rom
management. fof at 132:12-134-11.

Prof. Black agrees that it was rcasonable for the Board in structuring a strategic
review process to consider that increasing the number of possible bidders could nisk
the confidentiahty of the process, fd at 206.14-207 6.

Prol. Black agrees that it was reasonable for the Board in construching a stralegic
review process 1o consider the risk of disruption 10 the Company s business  Jd al
208.5-9,

Prol. Black thinks "1t was a reasonable decision” to permit KKR and Bain to conduct
additional due diligence given the Board was advised that a $21 per share LB price

was higher than Lazard's valuation of the Company under Project Alpha [d m
[E5:1-186:5.

Prof. Black agrees it was reasonable for the Board to rely on Lazard's [airness
opinion. fd at 212:17-19.
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* Finally, Profl. Black agrees that it was reasonable for the Board to approve
KKR's 522 per share offer and related deal terms. fd. a0 215:13-17.

Defs.” 51 Br. at 27, Plaintiffs do nol even try to explain away these dispositive admissions,
which preclede PlainulTs from showing that the Board acted in bad fath

A. The Early Contacts Between Perdue and KKR Are Irrelevant

PlaintifTs claim that cerain early contacts between Perdue and KKR between August 11,
2006 and Movember 9, 2006, were improper and tainted the process, Opp at 9-18, ¢ven though
their expen Prof. Black did not reach that conclusion. The undisputed record shows that the
Board recognized the potential for management to have a conflict in a going private transaction
and formed the SPC consisting of Outside Directors. BotlorfT AT Y 10, Prof Black agreed that
this was exactly what Qutside Directors should do in this situation. Black Tr at 102 21-104:4,
111:11-15. What Prof. Black, himself, calls “good practice™ cannot constitute an intentional
disregard of fiduciary duties. Plaintuffs are left in the awkward posiion of arguing aganst their
own exper

Plamnlifls also seek 1o obscure the iming of the contacts between Perdue and Calbert in
relation 10 the Board s strategic review process  But the undisputed chronology conclusively
refutes any suggestion that the process was cormupled.

*  Awugust 11, 2006 Perdue meets with Calbert and KKR eo-founder George Robensin
KKR's offices in California. Johnsion 5 1. AlT. Ex 45,

*  Awgust 17,2006 Calbert sends an email 1o Robens describing a conversation with
Perdue “[Perdue] repeated he has met with TPG (Benderman) and Goldman PIA (Adrian
Jones) and that he wants to pursue o transaction exclusively with us  He wants to wail
unhl after hus board mig week afier next (8/29) before he engages in due diligence ™
Johnston 5 1. AfT Ex. 46.

*  Aupust 29, 2006° Perdue tells the Board that he had “discusgions with eertain invesiment
bankers and private equity firms regarding the Company's positen in light of its stock
price and the active mergers and acquisition marke1,” Bottorff Ex. 6 at DG149939
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September 20, 2006. Calbent sends an email 10 Robens 1 had a good conversation with
David Perdue last mght. He had just lefl a meeting with his “most influential board
member® (not technically lead director) who was very supportive of him engaging
exclusively with us.” Johnston 5.J. Al Ex. 48,

October 5, 2006; Calbert and Robents meet with Perdue, Wilds and Turner, the lormer
CEQ of Dollar General and controller of the largest block of Dollar General stock. At the
meeting KKR requests permission to conduct due diligence on Dollar General subject 1o
a confidentiality agreement. SUF § 17.

October 6, 2006, Calbert writes 1o Robens recounting the conversation he had with
Perdue “David Wild [sic] (lead director) 1s requesting 2 board meeting Sunday rght
during which he wanis to disclose the conversation with KKR, form a special commiitee
and recommend we be allowed 1o begin our due dilbigence. . . . Perdue and Wild [sic)
spoke with Denny Bottorft, board member and head of povernance commiitee, today and
according to Perdue, Denny is in favor of the transaction  Dick Thomburgh . appears
to not be excited about the transaction. David and | spoke about the need to get him on
side. David and | went through his ‘pitch’ to the board again focusing on the positive
merits of the transaction.” Johnston 5. AfT. Ex. 7.

October 8, 2006: The Board discusses KKR's “reguest|] . to conduct due diligence of
[Drollar General's] current financials and financial projections with a view 1o making an
offer.” SUF Y 20 The Board decides 1o defer responding to KKR until the Governance
Committee had a chance (o recommend an appropriate process  fdf

October 9, 2006: Calbert sends an email 10 Roberts stating that he had a conversation
with Perdue “this moming " “He said the board call last night was controversial with 2
directors {Thomburgh and one other) expressing views thal gong private wasn 1 the nght
course of action . . . David Wilds and Denny [BottorT] (head of governance commuitee)
led the charge [or the transaction.” The emanl states that Perdue communicated to
Calbert, among other things, that “[tJhe official response from the board o [KKR] is

* we have tuken vour proposal under consideration ™ Johnston 51 Ex 6

October 12, 2006: Calbert advises Roberts that he spoke 1o Perdue and ““The BOD gave
him a message to deliver to other bidders - “Persuing |sic] strategic plan, not inlerested in
looking at anything else ™ Perdue doesn’t think the BOD will do anvthing before 1173
board mig when he will outline the restructuring plan He went through the BOD
rdentifying for and agamnst | encouraged him 1o get 2 direciors 1o be his advocates for
the transaction. He doesn’t think a letter should be sent until after Sunday night’s board
call.” Johnston S.J. AfT. Ex. 54,

October 19, 2006: The SPC is created. SUF 9 21

November 1, 2(06: The SPC holds its first meeting  Bottorft Ex. 10
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MNovember 9, 2006. Calbert emails Roberts that Perdue said the Board was not
interested in pursuing a going private transaction until after they announce the
“restructuning [§ e , Project Alpha] ™ Calbert Ex. 1

November 20, 2006 At a Board mecting, Bottor(T informs the Board that the SPC
“recommends that the Board should pursue Project Alpha or some vanant thereol and
table discussions of other strategic alternatives for the tme being.” Bottorff Ex 13 at

DG 50096 (emphasis added).

November 28, 2006; The Board approves Project Alpha, which is publicly disclosed the
following day SUFY§ 34-35

Early December, 2006: The Board decides it would be in the shareholders best interests
to determine the potential offer price if the Company were sold. The SPC meets with
representalives of Bain and KKR. SUF 99 39, 43,

December 19, 2006 The Board receives preliminary indications of interest from Bain
and KKR that are at the high end of the Company’s valuation under Project Alpha SUF
144,

January 5, 2007: The Board meets to discuss the preliminary indications of interest
Both Perdue and Beré are excluded from the dehberations of the Outside Direclors  The
Outside Dureclors, with the assistance of Lazard and Wachtell, decide to permint Bain and
KKR to conduct due diligence and 1o limil the number of bidders. It is undisputed that
Perduc had no role in these key decisions by the Outside Directors. SUF 9 50.

Plaintiffs concede that there is no evidence of any Perdue/K KR contacts (other than due

diligence) after November 9, 2006 See Defs.” 5.1 Br al 16, n. 14.% As Prof, Black admitied,

this is well before any transaction was even being considered by the Board  Black Tr at 149:11-

14915 (testifying the Board was not considering a transaction “as of November 20, 2006™)

PlaintiiTs also refer to a February 12, 2007 meecting between Perdue and KKR. Opp at 16n 14, 24
This meetng was part of due diligence and was stitended by Michacl Wilkerson of Lazard and
representatives from TPG. Riley Supp. AfT. Ex. 4 (February 7, 2007 Email from Wilkerson to Perdue
and Beré) al LAZ0O16025; Riley Supp AT Ex. 5 (February 12, 2007 Email cham between
Wilkerson and Perdue) (LAZDDI6026); Riley Supp AT Ex &(February 12, 2007 Emanl chan
among KKK and TPG representatives) at KKRE (073 148-KEKRE 0073149 Bain also had the same
opponunily 10 meet with Perdue. Riley Supp. AT Ex. 4, Riley Supp AT Ex 7 (February 20, 2007
Email chain between Moseley and Perduc) at DGE-MOSELEYTN1 16,
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Even assuming Perdue communicated non-public information to Calbert berween August
11 and November 9 — which Perdue cannot recall — thal information became worthless once the
Board started a non-cxclusive process involving multiple bidders, Johnston 8.J. Al Ex. 33,
John C. Coffee Dep Tr at 32:16-23 (testifying that Perdue's conduct was “essentially harmless”
and did not injure sharcholders), PlamntilTs complain that in mid-August Perdue told KKR he
was interested in an exclusive transaction with KKR. But in October and November the Board
sarid no 10 a going privale transaction and later when the Board said it would seek indications of
interest, the process was nof exclusive. Even Plaintiffs’ expert Prol. Black could not wdentify
any harm resulung from these contacts, observing that their efTect was “uncertain ™ Black Tr. at
Ex 2,92{a) (On the other hand, if Perdue’s recollection is right and there were no non-public
disclosures, then by definition the process could not have been corrupted 1t follows, therefore,
that the supposed “dispute” of recollection between Calben and Perdue is entirely immatenal
since in either event the communications did not affect the process.)'™

Plantiffs repeatedly cite Richard Thomburgh's testimony that around the time of the
October 8, 2006 Board meeting Thomburgh was concemed Perdue might have been “looking 1o
line his pockets ™ Thomburgh Tr. at 106-19-23; see Opp. at 2, 14, 55 n.35. As Thomburgh sad,

“|¥]ou don't want the CECQ involved il it looks like the CEOQ is going to be part of the buying

" Plamuffs make a number of addional allegations about Perdue, for example that Perdue expected to
be retamned a3 CEO afier the Merger (Opp. at 9, 17, 18 n.13, 48-4%9, 54}, that before the Board and
SPC wok control of the process Perdue put a "gag™ on Lehman (Opp. at 15), that Perdue was less
than candid with the Board in the summer of 2006 about bis contacts with KK R (Opp. at 11-12) and
thai Perdue told KKR about Project Alpha before i was publicly disclosed (Opp a1 16)  These are
all similarly irrelevanl. Even il these allegations were true, they are mooted by the fact that the Board
and the 5PC 1pok control of the process  In all evenis, the allegations are not trug For example, the
Company publicly discussed its consideration of the steps outhned in Project Alpha on August 31,
2006, well before the Calbert emanl menticming ithe pending “restruciunng © Cowipcrr Riley Supp
AT, Ex B (August 31, 2006 Dollar General Press Release) wirk Johnsion 5 ) AT Ex 5, sew alio
Defs.” Resp. to Phs.” Stmt of Disputed Facts, 1Y B6-147.
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group " Thormburgh Tr at 106:9-11; see also Bouorfl AT 9§ 10 (*In the end, the Board decided
that il needed 1o take control of the process, including by dirceting communications with KKR or
any other potenbial acquirors, and 1o pul in place an independent method for evaluating all the
Company’s straiegic alternatives.”™). But Thornburgh's caution only highhghts the Board's
active role in evaluating the Company’'s strategic altermnatives, responding to KKR's request 1o
conduct confidential due diligence and creating the SPC to run the process. Bottorff Ex. 9. And
Prof Black agreed that aller October 8, management was not “unilaterally deciding how o
respond” to KKR  Black Tr at 111:11-15. This is just what a Board should do

Absent evidence that Perdue dominated the Board or otherwase influenced the process,
his early contacts with KK R are legally irrelevant. See AMcMillan, 768 A.2d at 504 n.54 (absent a
showing that conflicted directors dominated the Board, “the mere presence ol a conflicled
director or an act of disloyalty by a director does not deprive the Board of the business judgment
rule’s presumption of loyalty™). To hold otherwise would penalize shareholders because
independent directors could not 1ake control of a process 1o sell a company when a member of
management allegedly engaged in unauthorized communications, without exposing themselves
1o potential lability.

B. Flaintiffs’ Other Process Complaints Are Moerithess

PlaintilTs raise a number of other process 1ssues thal, even 1l well-founded, are simply
second-guessing the nature of the process and therefore cannot constitute bad faith (1) the
Board decided not to open up the process to additional financial or stratcgic buvers. beyond four
of the largest private equity firms (KKR, TPG, Bain and Blackstone); (2) KKR allegedly
“possessed a sizeable information and strategic advantage™ because Bain was invited into the

process after KKR, and (3) Plaintiffs speculate that Ban did not have a serious interesl in
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acquiring Dollar General, Opp at 37-41 None of these hindsight cnticisms, even il true, comes
close to establishing bad faith or disloyalty. And, once again, Plaintiffs’ own expent undermines
their claims

With respect 1o the number of bidders, Plaintiffs do not challenge the numerous
authorities cited by Defendants finding sale processes were reasonable with as few as onc bidder,
See generally Defs.” S.J. Br. a1 28 "' In addition. the Board considered the possibility of a
strategic transaction with Family Dollar, one of Dollar General's competitors, bul Lazard advised
the Board that such a transaction was unhkely. BottorfT AfT. 4 24. The Board also carefully
weighed the pros and cons of inviting additional linancial bidders before deciding 1o proceed
with KKR and Bain, id § 25, and Prol. Black specilically westified that the considerations on
which the Board based its decision not 10 include additional bidders were reasonable  See Black
Tr. at 206.14-22, 207 1-6, 208:5-9 (agreeing that disruption 0 the Company’s business and
confidentiality risks posed by additional bidders were reasonable considerations); see also Defs.”
SJ Br at 28-30. In the face of Prof. Black’s testimony, Plaintiffs cannot create a genuine issue
of fact by merely asserting that the Board should have sought out additional hidders. See Mechs.
Laundry Serv v Auwio Glasy Co of Memphus, fnc.. 98 5.W.3d 151, 158 (Teon. Ci App. 2002)

{(“Mere conclusory allegations will not suffice 1o support or defeat a mation for summary

""" The one case Plantiffs cite concerning the number of bidders, Burkarn v Amsted, actually

demonsirates the reasonableness of this Board®s process. In Barkarn, the coun held that it was
reasonable for the board not to canvass the market after engaging with a single bidder because the
board already “possessed | a body of rehable evidence with which 1o evaluate the fmess of a
transaction.” Harkan v Aosted Indus foc | 367 AZd 1279, 1287 (Del. 1989}, Here, it is undisputed
that the Board had already spent months analvang the operations, strategies and profitabiluy of the
Company in connection with Project Alpha, which provided it a substantial body of reliable evidence
to “evaluate the fairness of a transaction ™ SUF % 34
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judgment.”) (citation omitted). Nor can Plaintiffs create an issue of material fact by disagreeing
with their own expert.

Plaintiffs’ argument that KKR had an insurmountable information advaniage is premised
on a gross misrepresentalion of a single piece of evidence:

» Plaintiffs assert that Perdue wrote an email admitting that KKR “[knew] more ahbout us
and has an idea [of] what they would do’ while Bain would struggle to catch up.” Opp.
at 39 (emphasis added, brackets in onginal)

+  What Perdue actually wrote was® “Clearly, the TPG/KKR team knows more aboul us

and has an idea what they would do but Bain/Blackstone will catch up fast.” Johnsion
S.J. AT, Ex. 77 (emphasis added).

Replacing the words “will calch up Fast” with “would struggle to caich up™ is not a pood Taith
argument, Misrepresentalions cannol create a genumine 1ssue of fact.

Finally, Plaintiffs’ speculation thal Bain was nol a serious bidder is entirely unsupported
and improbable Bain already owned a dollar store chain (Dollarama), Opp at 40, and had direct
experience with the discount retail industry. Indeed, the SPC and the Board specifically included
Bain in the process because of 11s expenence with retail businesses. Bottorff AfT § 22,
Thomburgh testified that Bain had more expertise in the discount retail scctor than KKR
Thomburgh Tr. at 210-3-6 Plaintiffs also offer no explanation why Bain would have submitted
an indication of interest and spent time and money conducting due diligence of (1 had no micrest
in gcguiring the Company. The record also shows that KKR believed Bain had 8 sedous interest
and treated the process as a competitive auction  See Calbert Ex 7 at KKRE (045142

. The Deal Protections Were Reasonable
Plaintiffs complain in perfunctory fashion abowt routine provisions in the Merger

Apgreement known as “deal protections ™ Opp. at 42-43, Plaintifls’ expert, however, concedes

that it was not improper for the Beard to agree to “the level of deal protections™ in the Merger
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Agreement Black Tr. at 293:12-17. Plaintiffs do not challenge this admission or cile a single
autharity 1o support their assertion that the deal prolections were improper.'

D. The Board Relied on Lazard's Fairness Opinion in Good Faith

There is no dispute that dircctors may rely on the advice of financial advisors, See Tenn.
Code Ann. 48-18-301(b2) In fact, Delaware courts routinely find that reliance on outside
advisors is 1self evidence of the directors” “good faith and the overall faimess of the process ™
Crnerama, fne v Technicolor, fnc , 663 A2d 1134, 1142 {Del. Ch, 1994), aff d, 663 A 2d 1156
(Del. 1995); see also MeAMfillan, 768 A2d al 505 n.55; In re Vualink Comme 'ny Corp 5 'holders
Letrg, 1991 WL 238816, at * 12 (Del, Ch, Nov £, 1991)

Plaintiffs asseri that “Lazard’s fmimess opinion, presented (o the Board, rested on the
assumption that Dollar General would have no store growth afier 2011 ™ Opp. at 2. This is not
s0 As sel forth in the Proxy Siatement, Lazard's faimess opinion “rested” on four different
valuation methodologies. BottorlT Ex. 23 al 21 (Lazard’s opimion 15 based on “is expenence and
professional judgment after considering the results of all of the analyses.”) (emphasis added),
October 10, 2008 Wilkerson Tr. at 98-10-14. Lazard found that KKRs offer price was higher
than the projected fairmess ranges under every one of the four methodologies SUF Y 64(d).
Plainti{Ts" own valuation exper, Robert Reilly, also agrees that the [our methodologies employed
by Lazard are commonly used and appropriate methodologies  Reilly Tr at 119-13-12146,

Reilly testificd that the fact that KKR's price exceeded the highest point on cach of the four

"2 Plaintiffs* contention that the Board could not accepl a superior offer because Dollar General might
not have had enough cash on hand 1o pay the termination fee is preposterous 1 the Company
accepled a supenor proposal from another bidder, the termination fee would ultimately have been
funded by the other bidder See fnre Tops “R" Us, fnc, S“holder Ling . 877 A2d 975, 1019-20 {Del
Ch. 2005) {chars and discussion illustrating wermination fee's effect on bidder)
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analyses was “uncommon™ and suggesis the offer price was “unusually fair” Belly Tr at
160:20-162:1 (emphasis added)
Plaintiffs concede that the perpetuity growth rate assumption used in the discounted cash
Now analysis had no impact on the olher three valuation methods. the stock prnice, comparable
public companics, and precedent transactions analyses. Black Tr m 226-5-8 ("The perpotuty
growlh rate 15 parl of the [discounted cash flow] analysis. [t's not part ol the comparable
transactions analysis or lthe comparable companies analysis.”) S0 even if the growth rate Lazard
used in its discounted cash flow was “wrong™ — which PlainulTs cannot show = Plainti[Ts sull
could not show that it ulumately undermined Lazard's faimess opinion. And even Prof.
Black restified than the Directors reasonably relied on Lazard’s fmmess opimion. Black Tr, m
212:17-19,
The Lazard faimess opinion also was not the only thing that the Board considered The
Proxy Statement specifically said:
Lazard’s opimon and financial analyses were not the only [actors
considered by Dollar General's board of dircctors in its evaluation of the

merger and should not be viewed as determinative of the views of Dollar
General’s board of directors or Dollar General’s management.

Botorff Ex. 23 at 25; see also rd al 1 8-19 (listing all the factors considered by the Board),

Bottorl AIT. 7Y 30-32, SUF § 64(c).(d)([). Knuckles Tr. 35.16-37.15."

" While not necessary o resolve for purposes of this motion, it is far from clear that using a different

assumption with respect to store openings after 201 1 would result in @ faimess range above 322 per
share because Lazard’s assumption with respect to store openings afier 2011 also results in lower
capial expendieres  Moreover, while Plaimtiffs suggest thar O'Connor's damage calculation was
based on “management progections,” Opp. at 62, they were i faci based on projections prepared
solely by KKR, as Ms. (’Connor conceded at her deposition. O*Connor Tr. at 109.5-110:18. These
projeciions were nol provided 1o or considered by the Board when it accepted the 522 per share offer

Plawntiffs similarly contend that Lehman was in possession of “management™ projections extending
oul untill 2016 Opp at 2B The document PlamuiTs citg in suppont of ther asserton 15 an internal
28



LOPY

Even if one were to disagree with Lazard's growth rate assumption, there is no evidence
that the Board had any reason to doubt its accuracy. Directors do not conduct their own
discounted cash flow analysis; bankers do. Morcover. the Board had no planned or projecied
store growth numbers past 2009, and so would hardly find i unusual thal Lazard did not either

In light ol this undisputed evidence, Plaintilfs cannol show that the Directors consciously
acted in bad faith and contrary o the interests of shareholders when they relied on Lazard’s
opinion as one of factors they considered. See, ¢ g, McPadden, 2008 Del Ch. LEXIS 123, at
*35-36; Ash v McCall, 2000 Del. Ch. LEXIS 144, at *29 & n.23 (Del. Ch. Sept. 15, 2000). In
MePadden, the faimess opimon relied on by the board was based on two sets of projections
created by the members of management who were buying the company, and the offer price was
al the low end of the valuation range calculated based on the more pessumustic projections, 2008
Del. Ch. LEXIS 123, at *27. The court found that “the two sels of projections described in the
[faimess opinion] should have aleried the board to carefully consider whether [the] offer was
high enough.” /d Nevertheless the count found no bad faith and held that the board was
protected by the exculpatory clause, Jd at 36. In Ash, even in the face of “red Nags™ and
“shoddy™ work by the board’s advisors, the court found noe bad faith and dismissed the breach of

fiduciary claims 2000 Del. Ch. LEXIS 144, ai *29

Lehman memorandum conlaming projections that were prepared by Lehman, not management, and
are merely extrapolitions from management’s projections. Johnston S0, AM Ex 11 an LB (0002869
There 13 no evidence i the record suggesting that management ever saw these projections  The
Lehman memorandum is also not sdmissible  The only Lehman witness who was shown this
document had never seen it and could not authenticate il because o was prepared by a separale
business unit. Dana Perlman Dep. Tr a1 118.3-120 22
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Because Plaintfls cannot show the Directors acted in bad faith, their reliance on the
exception in Tenn. Code 48-18-301(c) is misplaced The exception provides that “{a] director is
not acling in good faith if the direclor has knowledge concerning the matter in question that
makes reliance otherwise permitted by subsection {b) unwarranted.” Tenn. Code Ann, § 48-18-
301{c) In order to constitute bad faith, a dircclor's “unwarranted™ reliance on an expert must be
more than mere neghgence or even gross neghgence or reckless indifference — it must constitute
a “conscious disregard” for his or her fiduciary duties and the interests of the corporation. See,

e g, McPadden, 2008 Del Ch. LEXIS 123, at *31-32. No reasonable finder of fact could reach
that conclusion here.

E. Plaintiffs’ Quibbles About the Process Fall Well Short of Bad Faith as a
Matter of Law

Even if — contrary 1o Profl. Black's own opinion - the Board's actions in siruciunng the
process and approving the Merger were not reasonable, they cannol amount 1o bad faith.
Plaintiffs cannat show that the Quiside Directors had “an illicit directonial motive”™ or
consciously disreparded their fiduciary duties. Jn re Lear, 2008 WL 4053221, a1 *11 n 62
Complamis about the number or bidders, deal protections, reasonableness of the fairness opinion
and the like — “quibbles about due care™ - simply do not state a claim for bad faith. Jd

Plaimiffs atiempt to argue from Ryan v Lyondell, which, on an undeveloped record,
found that one board's failure to take amy action whatseever 1o discharge its duties cowld
possibly constitute bad faith and a breach of the duty of loyalty, Ryan v. Lyondell Chemical Co
2008 Del. Ch. LEXIS 105, at *47, 48 (Del. Ch. July 29, 2008). But, as reflected in the chan

below, this case 15 nothing like Ryan:
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Case Duration of Advisers Relied on Board Invelvement In Pre-Signing
Process by Board Negotiations Market Check
Ryari v, Less than seven “The Board did not *“[The:] Board avoided an Mone
Evondell days. fd ot *5 retain an investment | active role in negoliating” Jol ™ 4.
banker " and acted as a "passive
Id. at 64 conduit.”
lel, a1 *4, 47,
fnre Mare than 3 The Board reiained The Board controlled the Competitive bid
Dallar months - from an independent process, the full Board met | process involving
General December 2004 | Tinancial advisor and | nine times and the four major
10 March 2007 legal counsel. Strategic Planning private equity
Commiliee seven Limes, [irms

Other recent cases conlirm Plaintifls’ insurmouniable hurdle. For example, in Jm re Lear, the
proposed merger agreement was negotiated by the target company's CEQ “who had much of his
wealth tied up” in the company and feared that if 1t went into bankrupicy “his retirement benefits
could be lost.”™ In re Lear, 2008 WL 4053221, at *2  Nevertheless, the court dismissed the bad
faith and dislovalty claims aganst the directors. fd at*1.  In McPadden, the board appearcd
“10 have engaged in little 1o no oversight of that sale process™ and delegated negotianons 1o 2
vice president known 1o have an mterest of leading 2 management group to purchase the
subsidiary atissue  McPadden, 2008 WL 4017052, at *7-8. The court sull held that Plaintfls
faled to allege conduct that rosc to the level of bad faith Jd. at *10.

Plaintiffs cannot show that the Board “consciously acted in a manner contrary 1o the
interests of [the Company| and its stockholders™ when it accepted KKR's premium offer of $22
per share. I re Lear, 2008 WL 4053221, a1 *10. All the evidence in the record shows that the
Board acted reasonably, with full information, and in good faith when it voted unanimously 1o
accept the offer on March 10.

» The Board had conducted a detailed study of the Company’'s business and prospecis
when it evaluated Project Alpha from July through November 2006 After Project
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Alpha was announced, the market reaction was mixed, with analysts questioning
whether it was sufficient and could be implemenied successfully. SUF 1Y 34, 40.

The merper price of $22 per share was (| ) mgher than the projecied valuation of the
Company under Project Alpha, but without any of the nsks of implementing Project
Alpha, (2} a 31% premium over the most recent share price (316.78), and (3) a 43%
premium over the one-year average share prnice ($15.43). BottorfT Ex. 22 a
LAZSTE2S.

The merger price was $2 per share (or $630 million) higher than KKR's preliminary
indication of inlerest and $1 higher than Bain's preliminary indication of interest
Calbert Ex. 3; Riley Ex. 7.

Four large private equity firms had engaged in a multi-month process and KKR was
the only firm willing to bid. BottordT Ex. 23 at 16

Mr. Really testified that this was an arm’s length transaction and the pnce of an arm’'s
length transaction is presumptively fair. Reilly Tr. at 112:10-19. Courts have also
recognized that “a merger price resulting from arms-length negotiations where there
are no clmms of collusion is a very strong indication of fair value” M P M Enters.
fnc v Grlbert, T31 A.2d 790, 797 (Del. 19997,

Lazard provided a fairness opinion that showed the offer price was higher than the
price range under four separate analyses. SUF ¥ 64(d). Mr Reilly, Plainufis’
valuation expert, tesufied that this 15 “uncommon™ and suggesis the offer price is
“upusually laie” Redly Tr.at 161:16-162-1.

The undisputed events after the Board's vote only confirm the reasonableness of the

Board's decision:

Securitics analysts and independent shareholder advisory services praised the offer
pnce as fair. SUF 1Y 70, 74-75.

The market price never traded above the offer price o $22 per share, which shows
that market did not expect a gher bid 1o emerge. September 23, 2008 Lehn Tr Ex.
| at Chan 8.

In the three moenths belween the merger announcement and the shareholder vole, no
hugher bid was recerved, including from the other private equity firms that had
conducted due diligence. SUFY 71. Courts recognize that the lack of a superior bid
after a merger announcement “supports the board’s decision 1o proceed.” Barkarn v
Amsted Indus , Inc, 567 A 2d 1279, 1287-88 (Del 1989)
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= The Merger was approved by 99% of the voling shares, including Cal Tumner, the
largest shareholder and Plaintiff City of Miami  SUF 79 76, 77. Mr. Reilly,
Plaintiffs" experi, testified that these sharcholders found the offer price “atiractive™
and “had a preference for cash now at 322 a share as opposed to the possibility of 325
or $26 per share some years down the road.”™ Reilly Tr. at 68-8-6914, 242:20-243.5.

V. Plaintiffs Have No Disclosure Claims

Because the Directors are protected by the Tennessee business judgment rule and the
exculpatory provision in the Dollar General charter, see Section | above, Plaintiffs must prove
the Directors “intentionally omitied material informauon or knowingly disseminated false
information™ 1o Dollar General sharcholders and that the alleged misstaternents caused a
compensable cconomic injury. Goodwin, 1999 WL 64265, at *7, Thomas Nelson, slip op, at 13,
They cannot.

A, There Was Mo Secret Store Growth Plan to Disclose

Plaintiffs’ claim that the Proxy Statement failed 1o dizclose “the Company's huge growth
prospects,” Opp. at 78, is based on the fiction there was such a plan. As a matter of law and
common sense, directors cannol be faulted for failing to disclose something that never happened.
JCC Holding Co , Inc §'holders Litig , 843 A.2d 713, 721 (Del. Ch. 2003) (*[T]here is no
obligation on the part of a board to disclose information that simply does not exist.™). Plaintiffs®
own cases make clear the distinction between disclosing business plans versus mere
opportunities or potential. See Opp. at 57, 60-61; Delaware Open MREI Radrology Assocs. v
Kesster, 898 A 2d 290, 315-318 (Del. Ch. 2006) (distinguishing whether new siores were part of
the “‘operative reality” of the busincss at the time of the merger or mere speculation); ONT, Inc
v, fmiegra Bank, 751 A 2d 904, 907-911 (Del. Ch. 1999) (disunguishing between post-merger
evenl that was knowable at the ime of merger as opposed to a “product of speculanion™; fn Re

Emerging Comme nx, Inc 8 holders Ling | 2004 WL 1305745, at *13 (Del. Ch. June 4, 2004)
a3
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{concrele business projecuons contemnplated by managemeni pre-merger were relevant in
performing valuation in stalulory appraisal action), see also Globis Partmers, 2007 WL 4292024,
al *10 {no need to disclose ““inherently unreliable or speculative information which would tend
o confuse stockholders or inundate them with an overload of information™) (quoting Arneld v
Soc'y for Sav. Banc , 650 A.2d 1270, 1280 (Del 1994))

B. ‘The Proxy Statement Dvid Not Make Any Representation as to What Store
Growth Would Be After 2011

Building on the false premise thal there was a plan to add 7,000 or more stores, Plaintiffs
argue that sharcholders were misled by a single senience in the Proxy Statement describing a
mathematical assumption used by Lazard in modeling one of 1is four analyses, namely assumimg
that afier 2011 there would be no new stores. Plamntiffs® sleight ol hand fails for several reasons.
First, there was no 7,000 new store “secret plan” to conceal or contradict  Lazard's assumplion
was nol inconsistent with management’s plan. Second, investment bankers do not make
projections aboul new store openings, management does. Here management had no projections
beyond 2009, and neither did Lazard. Third, the Proxy Statement explicitly disclosed the

number of stores Dollar General expected to operate al the end of 2007, 2008, and 2009:
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Bottorfl Ex. 23 a1 27. Plantifis pretend these explicit store growth projections do not exist and
atiempt to limit the focus to a single sentence taken out of context of a seven-page discussion of
Lazard's financial analysis

In caleulating the terminal value of Dollar General, Lazard assumed perpetuity

growth rates ranging from 2 00% 10 2 3096 for the projected free cash Nows lor

penod subsequent 10 2011 The perpetwity growth rates were applied to the

projected free cash flow for 2011, as adjusted to reflect no additional store

openings in perpetuity, resulting in a lower sales growth rate and lower
capital expenditures.

Bottor(l Ex. 23 at 22 (emphasis added).

To perform a discounied cash flow calculation, Lazard had 1o make an assumption about
future siore openings beyond 2011, Lazard assumed zero and the Proxy Statement disclosed this
assumption  This assumplion does not negate the possibihity of fulure store growth alier 200110,
simply does not assume 1t will in fact occur  No one knows i this assumpuion will prove right or
wrong until 2011, However, nolwithstanding the possibility that there could be growth after
2001, it 18 not unreasonable for Lazard 1o assume there will be no growth in 2011 when
management's projechons do not go beyond 2009, There 1s no evidence that any sharcholder
was confused by this assumption. Indeed, James Nomis, the City of Miamu's financial advisor,
had no confusion. He read the Proxy Statement at the time of the Merger and sull understond
that Dollar General could potentially have as many as 16,000 stores. MNorris Tr. a1 46:2-5, 167-1-
14. Prof. Black agrees that the fact that Dollar General could grow 15 “common sense.” Black
Tr. 258-17-259-8.

Plainti[ls’ assertion that management “endorsed™ or *approved” Lazard's terminal value
assumplion is also demonstrably false. Management had nothing to do with the assumpticn

The assumption 15 desenibed in a section of the Proxy Statement labeled “Opimion of Financial
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Adwvisor ™ BottorfT Ex. 23 at 20. The Proxy Stalement also specifically cautioned not 1o

misconstrue Lazard’s assumptions 1o be a represcntation of expected future performance:
The estimates contained in Lazard analyses and the ranges of valuations resulting
from any particular anal ysis are nol necessanly indicative ol aciual values or

predictive of future resulis or values, which may be significantly more or less
favorable than those suggested by the analyses.

BotorfT Ex. 23 at 21. As Prof. Black admaitted, the Proxy Statement does not say management
approved Lazard's assumplions “beyond 2011." Black Tr. at 223:15-224:1. Lazard banker
Michael Wilkerson confirmed Dollar General management had no input into Lazard’s perpetuity
growth assumption — it was bascd solely on Lazard's professional judgment. October 10, 2008
Wilkerson Tr. a1 108.8-109:35.

Lastly, as a matter of law, the deseription of Lazard's terminal value caleulation cannot
give rise w0 a disclosure claim because it is a true and correct deseription of what Lazard dad
Prof. Black himsell admits it is an accurate description of Lazard’s work performed. Black Tr. al
228.1-9 (*I'm not quibbling with how they disclosed it or how they did their caleulations, given
their assumptions.”). A long linc of cascs in both Tennessec and Dielaware hold that a challenge
1o the reasonablencss of a banker's assumption, rather than the accuracy of @ proxy statement’s

descriplion of that assumption, fails o state a disclosure claim as a matier of law."

" See JOCU Holdimg, 843 A 2d a1 721 (*This kind of quibble with the substance of a banker’s opinion

deoes not constitute a disclosure clam.™); Thomas Nefsan, slip op. at 13-16 {dismissing disclosure
claims, 1n part, because the Proxy Statement “included a far summary of the work" performed by
financial advisors), see afso fn re MONY Group foc 5 holder Ling, 852 A 2d 9, 28 n 52 (Del Ch.
2004) (“[A] complaim abouwl the accuracy or methodology of a financial advisor's repor 15 not a
disclosure claim,™), In re PNE Holding Co. §'holders Ling . 2006 WL 2403999, a1 *20 (Del. Ch

Aug 18, 2006) (“50 loag as the valuntion work 15 accurately described and sppropriately qualified,
that 1s sufficient.””), Nebel v Sowthwess Bancorp, Inc , 1995 WL 405750, a1 *4 (Del Ch July 5. 1995)
{dismissing disclosure claim where the financial advisor employed a valuation methodology that “was
legally improper” but the methodology employed had been accurately and ~plainly disclosed™)
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Themas Nelson is squarely on point. The plantills in Thomas Nelson (represented by the
same counse! for plaintiffs here) argued thet the assumption of the company s financial advisor
(SunTrust) of a “conservative terminal multiple growth rate of 2%-4%" when the company was
“projecting a 24% growth rate” misled shareholders about the company’s value. Thomas Nelson,
slip op. at 14 {emphasis added). Chancellor Lyle rejected this argument for two reasons (1) as
here, the Proxy Statement explained the “hmited relianee™ an investor could place on the
banker's analysis, and (2) Thomas Nelson, like Dollar General, was a publicly-traded company
and therefore shareholders had access to extensive information about the company. mcluding
SEC filings and analyst reports. /d. at 14-15. Chancellor Lyle held that the proxy stalement
“included a Fair summary of the work performed by SunTrust” enabling shareholders 1o
“accuratcly assess the weight to place on the SunTrust opinion,”™ 1 at 15-16, and disnussed the
case Plaintiffs’ disclosure claim here is far weaker, Whereas Thomas Nelson’s linancial
advisor made an assumplion that contradicted the company's projected growth rate, Lazard’s
assumplion about store openings aller 2011 was consistent with the fact that the Company had
na projections beyond 2009, Lazard's faimess opinion could not have misled shareholders about
the Company's valuc

L. Plaintiffs” Other Disclosure Claims Fail

Plaintiffs make a half-hearied attempt to assert a number of additional disclosuere claims,
none of which raises a genuine issue of matenial fact. First, while the Proxy Statement disclosed
that prior (o the SPC’s formation, Perdue was in contact with “private equity firms and
investment bankers regarding polential interest in a transaction involving Dollar General.”
Botorff Ex 23 at 15, Plamtiffs want 10 hold the Directors liable for not including a blow-by-

blow description of those contacts  See Opp at 58-59 Not only do Plaintiffs fml to cite any
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authontly for the proposition thal a board could be held hable by faling to disclose such details,
their own expert, Prof. Black, could not conclude that Perdue’s carly contacts with privale equity
firms were matenal Black Tr, a1 228 10-229.20."

Second, Plamtffs [aulh the Directors for not including more disclosure about bidders that
were nod included in the process. See Opp. at 41, 59 The Proxy Statement plainly disclosed
that four private equity firms participated in the process. That 15 all that is required. See. e g,
Stroud v. Grace, 606 A.2d 75, 85 (Del. 1992) (“Delaware law imposes upon a board of direclors
the fiduciary duty to disclose fully and (aurly all material facts within its control that would have
a sigmficant effect upon a stockholder vote. The board is not required 1o disclose all available
information.”) {cnations omilted ); Skeen v Jo-Ann Storey, fnc, T30 A2d 1170, 1174 (Dcl 2008)
(“Omutted facts are nol material simply because they might be helpful. Te be actionable, there
musl be a substantial likelihood that the undisclosed information would significantly alter the
total mix of information already provided.™). Plaintiffs do not cite a single authonly for the
absurd proposition that directors could act in bad laith by failing to disclose any number of
things that did not happen. Such disclosures could only confuse, not inform, investors See
Globis, 2007 WL 4292024, a1 *10.

Third, Plaintiffs complam that Lehman’s [ee arrangements were not disclosed. See Opp.
al 40-41. Dollar General was under no obligation 1o disclose anything about Lehman’s
compensation because Lehman did not provide a faimess opimion relied upon by the Board or
included in the Proxy Statement See. e g, llem 1015(b) of Reg M-A, 17 CFR § 229.1015{(a). (b)

iproviding for disclosure in 2 proxy ol compensation received by an advisor giving a fairness

'* Nor do direciors have a duty 1o accuse themselves of wrongdeing when no misconduct has been
found by a count  See, e g, Brody v Zaucha, 697 A 2d 749, 754 (Del. 1997)
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opinion but not the compensation of other advisors who provided reports not deemed material to
the transaction).
Finally, PlaintifTs challenge the Proxy Staement’s disclosure aboul management’s

potential investment in the Company:

As of the date of this proxy statement [May 21, 2007], none of our

executive officers has enfered into any agreement, arrangement or

understanding with KKR, Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective

affiliates regarding employment with, or the right to purchase or participate

in the equity of the surviving corporation  However, prior 10 the closing,

some or all of our executive officers may discuss or enter inlo such
arrangements and/or amendments to their cxisting agreements

Boitorff Ex. 23 a1 37. Plainifis have no evidence there was any agreement, arrangement or
understanding in place as of May 21, 2007 The documents they cite show that KKR and
members of management were discussing the issue and, as of May 22, 2007, management had
retained counsel 1o advise them in connection with KKR's proposed draft management equity
agreement. Johnston Exs 64-67. [mportantly, there were no discussions concerming
management investment in the post-Merger Company until after the Board approved the Merger,
August 25, 2008 David Perdue Dep. Tr at 21:20-22:17, Michacl M. Calbert Dep. Tr, at 52.2-12,
196.10-23.

. Plaintiffs Cannot Show That the Alleged Misstatements Caused Any
Compensable Economie Injury

Under Tennessee and Delaware law, Plaintills must show, by admissible evidence, that
any omission or missialemeni caused a compensable economuc injury  Thomas Nelson, shp op.
at 13; Brukards, ship op at 24; Transkarvoric, 954 A2d at 362-63 & n.55. Evenifa
misstatement were “material” for disclosure purposes (and none are here), Plantiffs must sull

satisfy the separate elements of causation and imjury,
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The Delaware Supreme Court has held that “there is no per se rule that would allow
damages for all director breaches of the iduciary duty of disclosure.” Lowdon, 700 A.2d a1 146-
47; accord In re J P Morgan Chase & Co 5 holder Ling , 906 A.2d 766, 773 (Del. 2006).
Rather, compensatory damages may only be awarded where they “arise logically and directly
from the lack of disclosure ™ fn re Tvson Foods, fnc , 919 A.2d 563, 601-02 {(Del Ch 2007).
['his 15 especially true in the merger conlext because courts recogmze thal pre-closing injuncihions
are the preferred remedy and that post-closing disclosure claims are generally oo speculative o
be “adequately quantilied or monetized * Transkarponic, 954 A 2d at 360-61. Thus, courts
reject disclosure claims where the plamntifls offer no evidence showing “that the vote would have
been different,” id. at 362 n.55, or that the shareholders would have been better ofl of the merger
had been rejected by sharcholders Brukard!, slip op at 24

Plaintiffs do not even try w ofler such evidence here and cannot because the merger price
was 31% above the pre-announcement market price ol $16.78. Rather than offer evidence of
causation and a compensable injury, Plaintiffs ask the Court 1o speculate and assume the
cxistence of an injury  See Opp Br at 80 (arguing that duty of candor claims require “only that
the undisclosed information be matenal™). The law does not permit the Court 10 indulge in that
speculation
V. Sharcholder Ratification and Acquicscence

Given Plainudis” inability 1w show any matenal misstatement or omission in the Proxy
Statement, the shareholder vote overwhelmingly in faver of the Merger ratified the transaction
The sharcholder ratification restores the presumption of the business judgment rule against duty
of loyalty claims and Plaintiffs must prove the transaction was irrational or amounted 1o wasie in

order to prevail, See Thomas Nelson, ship op. at 21, Solomen v Armstrong, 747 A2d 1098, 1117
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{(Del. Ch 1999), Rosser v New Valley Corp , 2005 WL 1364624, a1 *4 (Del. Ch. May 27, 2003).
The 31% all-cash premium precludes any such finding and Plainti{ls do not even atlempl to
argue otherwise.

Under the doctrine of acquicscence, sharcholders who cast an informed vote in favor of a
transaction are also barred as a matter of law from challenging 1. See Bershad v Curriss-Wright
Corp , 535 A 2d B40, 848 (Del, 1987), fn re PNB Holding Co 5 holders Ling | 2006 WL
2403999, a1 *21 (Del Ch. Aug 18, 2006). Here, the Proxy Statement provided a description of
the litigation related to the merger, enumerating the alleged claims and explicitly identifying the
case number and Court of the instant action. Botorfl Ex. 23 at 40. The disclosure of this
informanon provided sharcholders with notice of “substantially all of the alleged improprictics
identified by Planuif]s] ™ Brukardr, slipop. at 11 Those sharcholders who voted in favor of the
I

Merger - including Plainu(T City of Miami — therefore have no standing to sue.

VI. The Aiding and Abetting Claims Against KKR and Dollar General Fail

Now that Plaintiffs have abandoned the baseless “upmng” allegation, thewr aiding and
abetting claim against KKR rests exclusively on certain communications between Perdue and
KKR that ook place well before any transaction was under consideration See Opp at B4, see

also Black Tr. at 149:11-149 15." Those communications arc faciually and legally irrelevant.

The City of Miami was clearly mformed  During the class certification proceedings, the City of
Miami represented that it had reviewed and approved the motion for a lemporary injunction, which
specifically enumerated the alleged deficiencies i the Proxy Statement identified by counsel
following discovery  With all ol this information, the City of Miami still voted in favor of the Merger
and thereby acquicsced in the transaction. See PNE Holdimgs, 2006 WL 2403999, a1 *21

Plaintffs refer to “KKR’s [alleged] ilicn involvement with Lehman® relatng to KEKR's debt offering
withou explaiming why the involvement was “illicit™ or how it could have contributed 1o a breach of
fiduciary duty by the Board Opp st 84 Lehman was not the Board s linancial sdvisor (it was the
Company s} and the Board relied on the sdvice and Tairness opinon of Lazard — nod Lehman = n
approving the Merger. And even i the Board had relied upon a faimess opimion from Lehman,
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Moreover, when the process uliimately commenced. it was dnven by the SPC, not Perdue, so
there was no reason for KKR 1o be concemed with the irrelevant and superseded
communications with Perdue. Thus, there is simply no evidence that KKR partucipated -
knowingly or otherwise - in any “inherently wrongful” or “per s¢ illegal™ fiduciary breach.” See
In re GM (Hughes) 8 "holder Litig , 2005 WL 1089021, a1 *24 (Del Ch. May 4, 2003)

The record makes clear that KKR engaged in an arms-length, competitive and multi-
month process run by a commitiee of Outside Direclors. KKR submitted a premium bid for
Dollar General that was not matched by any competitors. Instead of raising a genuine issuc of
material fact to the contrary, Plaintffs’ brief cues fn re Hechinger Inv, Co, of Del , 278 Fed.
Appx 125 (3d Cur. 2008) - a case i which the Third Circuit alTirmed the district court’s
dismissal of an aiding and abetling claim againsi a private equity firm that struciured a leveraged
buyout in an arm’s length transaction  fd at 130 The court said “the Delaware Supreme Court
has noted that purely arm’s lengih negotiations generally are inconsistent with the level of
knowing participation required for aiding-and-abetung hability 1o antach.™ Id (citing Malpiede
v Townson, T8O A 2d 1075, 1097-98 & n 84 (Del 2001)) " Plaintiffs point 10 no specific facts

i the record that support any different result here.

Lehman's participation in the debt financing would not have been improper - Brwkardr, shp op at 21
n 23 (holdwig that a financial advisor's mvolvement in financing the trensaction is nol a conflicl of
mterest),

Plaintiffs aiding and abetting claims ssimularly fal for the reasons set forth i Delendams® openimg
bried, including that a corporation (1 & . Dollar General) cannot be held vicaniously hable for breaches
of Niduciary duly by 1ts own directors. See Defs.” 5 1, Br. at 48-52

Plaintiffs cite no authority for thew argument (Opp a1 76-77) that KKR and Dollar General are not
protected by the Company's exculpatory provision and therefore could be liable for damages for
ading and abeiting a duty of care vielaton  The argument also makes no sense. How could an aider
and abettor knowingly panticipate in a duty of care breach which by definition only involves negligend
conduct by the Aduciary?
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CONCLUSION

It is undisputed that the SPC and Board were advised by their independent experts that
the 31% premium price of $22/share was more than [air. Their own expertence lold them that as
well, Sharcholder advisory firms and securities analysts agreed  The largest shareholder, Cal
Tumer, and Plaintiff City of Miami alike voted for the deal, fully knowledgeable that the
Company had the potentizl 1o add additional stores.

In the ultimate analysis, Plantifts" case falls on the bogus “secret”™ store growih claim
Despite their 85-page bricl and 187-paragraph statement of facts, Plainu{fs have not pointed to
any [act in the record that would be admissible at trial that creates a genuine issue of malenal
fact as to the existence of a secret plan. And their own expert entirely undercuts their claim,
testfying that management had no long term formal plans and that “of course™ there was a
sigmficant difference between “plans™ and “opportunities.” The arguments that Pluntitls do
make n an efTort 1o twist the facts simply do notl withstand the light of day.

The Court has given Plaintiifs mone than enough opporiunity to prove their case
Plaintiffs have fallen far shor of demonstrating anything like intentional misconduct by a
majority of the Directors, who the record reflects acted 1n good [aith 1o get the shareholders a
substantial premium  In fact, their allegations are frivolous, as shown by their offer to dismiss
eight Directors  The allegations against the Defendants should be dismissed

For the reasons set forth above and in the Moving Briel, Defendants respecifully request

that their Motion for Summary Judgment be granted,
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